STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

GRANT BAUSERMAN, KARL WILLIAMS,
And TEDDY BROE, individually
and on behalf of a class of
similarly-situated persons,

Supreme Court Case No. _____

Court of Appeals No. 333181

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

Court of Claims

Case No. 2015-000202-MM

Hon. Cynthia Diane Stephens

v.

STATE OF MICHIGAN UNEMPLOYMENT
INSURANCE AGENCY,

Defendant.

_____ /

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS'

APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Appellees
PITT, MCGEHEE, PALMER & RIVERS, P.C.
Jennifer L. Lord (P46912)
Michael L. Pitt (P24429)
117 West Fourth Street, Suite 200
Royal Oak, MI 48067
Tel. 248-398-9800
Fax 248-398-9804
jlord@pittlawpc.com
mpitt@pittlawpc.com

STATEMENT OF QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Article 1, Section 17 of the Michigan Constitution provides that “No person shall be...deprived of... property, without due process of law.” Plaintiffs filed their claim within six months of when the state seized their property. Did the Court of Appeals err in its interpretation of MCL 600.6431(3) by holding that the event giving rise to the plaintiffs’ claim was the issuance of notification to plaintiffs of their alleged fraudulent conduct, and not the seizure that deprived the plaintiffs of their property?

The Court of Appeals answers: No.

The Court of Claims answers: Yes.

Plaintiffs-Appellants answer: Yes.

Defendant-Appellee answers: No.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES INVOLVED

Michigan Constitutional Provisions

Const. 1963, Art. 1, §17 provides in pertinent part:

No person shall be...deprived of...property, without due process of law. The right of all individuals...to fair and just treatment in the course of legislative and executive investigations and hearings shall not be infringed.

Statutory Provisions

The statutory provision at issue, MCL 600.6431, states as follows:

(1) No claim may be maintained against the state unless the claimant, within 1 year after such claim has accrued, files in the office of the clerk of the court of claims either a written claim or a written notice of intention to file a claim against the state or any of its departments, commissions, boards, institutions, arms or agencies, stating the time when and the place where such claim arose and in detail the nature of the same and of the items of damage alleged or claimed to have been sustained, which claim or notice shall be signed and verified by the claimant before an officer authorized to administer oaths.

(2) Such claim or notice shall designate any department, commission, board, institution, arm or agency of the state involved in connection with such claim, and a copy of such claim or notice shall be furnished to the clerk at the time of the filing of the original for transmittal to the attorney general and to each of the departments, commissions, boards, institutions, arms or agencies designated.

(3) In all actions for property damage or personal injuries, claimant shall file with the clerk of the court of claims a notice of intention to file a claim or the claim itself within 6 months following the happening of the event giving rise to the cause of action.

MCL 600.6431.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

The facts relevant to this application are not in dispute. From October 2013 to August 2015, the State of Michigan Unemployment Insurance Agency (UIA) utilized an automated system, known as MiDAS, to detect and adjudicate suspected cases of unemployment benefit fraud. Ex. 3, The Detroit News, May 3, 2017.¹ According to well-publicized state records, the MiDAS system “wrongfully accused tens of thousands of people of fraud, often wrongfully garnishing people’s wages over a crime they did not commit.” *Id.* According to the agency, “[a]bout 40,000 people are implicated in the [false fraud] cases.” *Id.*

Plaintiff Grant Bauserman received unemployment insurance benefits from October 2013 through early March 2014, after he was involuntarily separated from his prior employer. Exhibit 4, First Amended Complaint, ¶78. In November 2014, Bauserman learned, for the first time, that the UIA had sent a request for information to him through its online system, MiWAM. *Id.* at ¶¶82-85. In the months between December 2014 and June 2015, Bauserman submitted multiple letters to the UIA in a futile effort to explain why he was not guilty of fraud. *Id.* at ¶¶86-97. Defendant did not acknowledge or respond to any of Bauserman’s appeals. *Id.*

On June 6, 2015, the UIA seized Bauserman’s federal income tax refund. *Id.* at ¶98. It seized his state income tax refund shortly thereafter. *Id.* at ¶99. Approximately three months later, on September 9, 2015, Bauserman filed a class action complaint against the UIA alleging it violated the due process clause of the Michigan Constitution “by improperly intercepting tax refunds, garnishing wages and forcing repayments from claimants” without first affording him due process. Exhibit 1, Court of Appeals Opinion, p. 1 and p. 8 (quoting First Amended Complaint,

¹ <http://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/local/michigan/2017/05/03/state-botched-unemployment-fraud-cases/101263214/>

¶164).² Plaintiffs filed their first amended complaint on October 19, 2015, naming Karl Williams and Teddy Broe as plaintiffs in addition to Bauserman. Ex. 4, First Amended Complaint.

Plaintiffs allege that the Agency's use of the MiDAS system caused them to be deprived of their property without due process in violation of Art. 1, § 17 of the Michigan Constitution. The plaintiffs' complaint alleges that the Agency deprives claimants of property without due process by using its automated decision-making system to detect and adjudicate fraud claims, culminating in the interception of tax refunds and other seizures of property. Ex. 4, First Amended Complaint, ¶¶35- 55. Throughout the process, the Agency uses MiDAS to decide guilt and seize penalties without affording notice and without any hearing to determine guilt. *See, eg*, Ex. 4, First Amended Complaint at ¶¶ 100-101 and 164. The Agency also engages in the formal policy and practice of over-assessing penalties, including the aggregation of penalties, the use of wage garnishments to recover penalties, the conversion of penalty amounts to restitution amounts, the seizure of tax refunds from joint taxpayers, including non-responsible taxpayers, and the assessment of interest on penalties, which deprives claimants of property without due process to challenge the accuracy or propriety of the underlying fraud determinations. *Id.* at ¶¶59-74.

On May 10, 2016, the Court of Claims issued an opinion and order denying the defendant's motion to dismiss. Exhibit 2, Court of Claims Opinion. The Court of Claims correctly understood the plaintiff's due process claim as alleging "they possessed a property interest in their unemployment benefits, tax refunds and wages, and that the State garnished and seized such property without due process." *Id.* at 5. In other words, "Plaintiffs' constitutional tort claim is

² The UIA used the MiDAS system to falsely accuse tens of thousands of people of fraud between October 2013 and August 2015. Plaintiffs filed their initial complaint in this matter just weeks after the UIA discontinued its use of the MiDAS system.

premised upon the assertion that they were falsely accused of fraud and wrongly deprived of their property without due process.” *Id.* at 7.

On July 18, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished *per curiam* opinion reversing the Court of Claims. The Court of Appeals framed the notice issue as follows:

[W]e are asked to determine whether the six months within which plaintiffs were required to file a notice of intention to file a claim, or the claim itself, began to run (1) when defendant issued notices informing plaintiffs that they were disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits, or (2) when defendant actually seized plaintiffs’ property.

Ex. 1, Court of Appeals Opinion, p. 5.

The Court of Appeals held that the six-month notice period began to run not when the plaintiffs were deprived of property, but rather, “on the date that defendant notified [the plaintiffs] of their alleged fraudulent conduct, and the impact it would have on their unemployment benefits.”

Ex. 1, Court of Appeals Opinion, p. 9. The Court of Appeals reasoned that “the ‘actionable harm’ in a due process challenge consists of the actions allegedly taken by defendant that deprived plaintiffs of their right to notice and an opportunity to be heard, and occurred on the date defendant issued notices informing plaintiffs of their alleged fraudulent conduct.” *Id.* at 10. The Court of Appeals therefore ruled that “plaintiffs...erroneously focus on the potential consequence of a due process violation, the taking of their property, rather than the hallmark of a due process claim, the right to notice an opportunity to be heard.” *Id.* at 10.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case raises an issue of statutory interpretation, which this Court reviews de novo. *Aroma Wines & Equip, Inc v Columbian Distrib Servs, Inc*, 497 Mich 337, 345; 871 NW2d 136 (2015). This Court also reviews the underlying denial of summary disposition de novo. *Reed v Breton*, 475 Mich 531, 537; 718 NW2d 770 (2006).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL DEPRIVATION OF PROPERTY ACCRUED BEFORE THE STATE DEPRIVED THEM OF PROPERTY.

This case presents a question of statutory interpretation: When did the plaintiffs' due process claim accrue for purposes of starting the notice clock under MCL § 600.6431(3)? The notice provision in that section of the statute provides: "In all actions for property damage or personal injuries, claimant shall file with the clerk of the court of claims a notice of intention to file a claim or the claim itself within 6 months following the happening of the event giving rise to the cause of action. MCL 600.6431(3).

The Court of Claims Act further provides that "[e]xcept as modified by this section, the provisions of [Revised Judicature Act] chapter 58 [MCL 600.5801, et seq.], relative to the limitation of actions, shall also be applicable to the limitation prescribed in this section." MCL 600.6452(2).

The Revised Judicature Act provides, in relevant part, "All actions and rights shall be governed and determined according to the law under which the right accrued." MCL 600.5869. Plaintiffs claim that the UIA wrongfully deprived them of property through tax refund seizures, wage garnishments, and other means, without due process. Ex. 4, First Amended Complaint, ¶164. In this case, therefore, the issue of when the plaintiffs' claim accrued must be decided with

reference to Article 1, Section 17 of the Michigan Constitution, which states that that “No person shall be...deprived of... property, without due process of law.” Const. 1963, Art. 1, §17.

Because the due process clause prohibits deprivations of property without due process, plaintiffs’ claim accrued when they suffered a deprivation of property. Plaintiffs filed their claims within six months of that event. Plaintiffs’ claims are timely and not barred by the notice provisions of the MCL § 600.6431. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that such claims must be filed within six months of a notice of redetermination, at which time no deprivation has occurred and the agency process was not complete.

A. The Court of Appeals ignored the plain and unambiguous language of the due process clause in holding that plaintiffs’ claim accrued before the state deprived them of their property.

Plaintiffs’ due process claim arises under Article 1, §17 of the Michigan Constitution, which provides: “No person shall be...deprived of... property, without due process of law.” Const. Art. 1 §17. Due process is defined similarly under both the United States Constitution and the Michigan Constitution. *Kampf v Kampf*, 237 Mich App 377, 381 (1999). It is well-established that Michigan’s due process guarantee “provides protection coextensive with its federal constitutional counterpart.” *By Lo Oil Co v Dep’t of Treasury*, 267 Mich App 19, 32 (2005).

The core prohibition of the due process clause is “the prohibition against the deprivation of property without due process[.]” *Fuentes v Shevin*, 407 US 67, 81 (1972). The purpose of the due process “requirement is not only to insure abstract fair play to the individual. Its purpose, more particularly, is to protect his use and possession of property from arbitrary encroachment—to minimize substantively unfair or mistaken deprivations of property[.]” *Id.* Thus, “the essential reason for the requirement of a prior hearing is to prevent unfair and mistaken deprivations of property[.]” *Id.* at 97. Notice and hearing procedures only comply with due process if they are

“aimed at establishing the validity, or at least the probable validity, of the underlying claim against the alleged debtor before he can be deprived of his property.” *Id.*

In *Sniadach v Family Finance Corp of Bay View*, 395 US 337 (1969), the Supreme Court struck down a Wisconsin law allowing for prejudgment garnishment of wages. As to the nature of the constitutional claim, the Court observed that “the sole question...is whether there has been a taking of property without that procedural due process that is required by the Fourteenth Amendment.” 395 US at 339. The Supreme Court concluded that “a prejudgment garnishment...may as a practical matter drive a wage-earning family to the wall. Where the taking of one’s property is so obvious, it needs no extended argument to conclude that absent notice and a prior hearing...this prejudgment garnishment procedure violates the fundamental principles of due process.” *Id.* at 341-42 (internal citation omitted).

Here, Plaintiffs’ due process claim is analogous to the claim in *Sniadich*. Plaintiffs allege that the state deprived them of their property without first affording them adequate prior notice and a hearing to establish the validity of the state’s seizure of their property. This is the core allegation of the plaintiffs’ complaint in this case. See Ex. 4, First Amended Complaint ¶164.

In holding that the plaintiffs’ claim accrued when the state issued a notice of redetermination, and not when the state deprived plaintiffs of property, the Court of Appeals emphasized that the fundamental requisites of due process are reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard. Ex. 1, Court of Appeals Opinion, p. 9. This is undoubtedly true, but it does not answer the relevant question, which is whether a due process claim accrues before a claimant is deprived of property or after the claimant is deprived of property. Because the due process clause applies only where a person is “deprived of...property, without due process,” a claim such as plaintiffs’,

which is brought to recover damages based on the deprivation, accrues only after the deprivation has occurred.

“[W]hen interpreting the language of the constitution, unambiguous terms are given their plain meaning.” *Musselman v Governor*, 448 Mich 503, 526; 533 NW2d 237(1995)(Riley, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). The terms of Article 1, §17 are unambiguous. No person shall be “deprived of...property...without due process.” Thus, a person must be “deprived of...property” to state a cause of action to recover damages for the loss of their property. In other words, the due process clause is not violated, and a cause of action cannot be alleged, until a claimant is “deprived of...property, without due process.” Const. 1963, Art. 1, §17.

The due process clause plainly and unambiguously prohibits deprivations of property. It does not proscribe a deprivation of notice or hearings where there is no deprivation of life, liberty or property. Nor does it affirmatively require the issuance of notice or a hearing unless a deprivation of life, liberty or property is at stake. As the Supreme Court held in *Fuentes, supra*, the purpose of the due process clause “is not only to insure abstract fair play to the individual. Its purpose, more particularly, is to protect his use and possession of property from arbitrary encroachment—to minimize substantively unfair or mistaken deprivations of property[.]” *Fuentes*, 407 US at 81.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion distorts the unambiguous language of the due process clause. In holding that a due process claim accrues upon the issuance of notice and not upon a deprivation of property, the Court of Appeals reasoned:

Specifically, the ‘actionable harm’ in a due process challenge consists of the actions allegedly taken by defendant that deprived plaintiffs of their right to notice and an opportunity to be heard, and occurred on the date defendant issued notices informing plaintiffs of their alleged fraudulent conduct.

Ex. 1, Court of Appeals Op., p. 10.

The Court of Appeals distorted the plain language of the due process clause by substituting the words “right to notice and an opportunity to be heard” for the word “property.” The due process states: “No person shall be...deprived of... property, without due process of law.” Const. Art. 1 §17. It does not state that “no person shall be deprived of notice and an opportunity to be heard.” While a lack of notice and an opportunity to be heard are aspects of a claim for wrongful deprivation of property, they are insufficient, in and of themselves, to constitute an “actionable harm.” To hold otherwise, as the Court of Appeals did, is to ignore the plain and unambiguous language of the controlling constitutional provision.

The Court of Appeals opinion ignores the plain language of the due process clause because it holds that a cause of action accrues before a claimant is “deprived of...property.” Furthermore, the reasoning of the Court of Appeals would require claimants to file due process cases in the Court of Claims before the state deprives them of property and before administrative proceedings are complete, leading to wasteful litigation, misuse of state and judicial resources and absurd results.

B. If uncorrected, the Court of Appeals’ decision will have wide-ranging and unintended consequences for state agencies, state courts, and citizens in cases involving claims for wrongful deprivations of property without due process.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion requires persons with due process claims to file a notice or claim in the Court of Claims upon receiving any notice that their property might be deprived. Under the Court of Appeals’ reasoning, a claim for wrongful deprivation of property accrues, and claimants must therefore go to court under MCL 600.6431(3), after the Agency issues a notice of redetermination, but before the state deprives the claimant of property. Under this reasoning, every case proceeding through the Unemployment Insurance Agency could be interrupted, mid-stream, by the filing of a notice or lawsuit in the Court of Claims, so long as the claimant alleges they

were deprived of notice and an opportunity to be heard with respect to the redetermination. Such cases would begin after the Agency issues a notice of redetermination notifying a claimant that they are disqualified for benefits, even if the state has not yet deprived them of any property, even if the administrative process is not complete, and even if the claimants have not actually received notice that the state might seize their property. The resulting confusion and filing of premature claims, and needless litigation of those claims, will impose significant costs and burdens on state agencies and the court system.

The Court of Appeals reasoning would require claimants to initiate litigation before the agency process was complete, in which case their wrongful deprivation claims would be unripe. *See, e.g., Electro-Tech, Inc v HF Campbell Co*, 433 Mich 57; 445 NW2d 61 (1989)(holding, in case brought under 42 U.S.C. §1983, that the plaintiff's wrongful taking claim was unripe because the underlying administrative process had not yet been completed).

Defendant implicitly acknowledged the absurdity of this position in its appeal brief. In the Court of Appeals, defendant argued that “[t]he notice or claim that section 6431(3) mandates be filed can only be filed *following* the happening of the event giving rise to the cause of action.” (Appeal Brief of Defendant-Appellant UIA, p. 16). Defendant further argued: “it simply would not make sense to allow a plaintiff to first file his complaint and wait for an event to occur and then claim compliance with section 6431(3).” *Id.* at 18.

Because plaintiffs' claim arises under the due process clause, and the due process clause prohibits deprivations of property without due process, their claim could not properly be filed until a specific event – a deprivation of property – had occurred. The Court of Appeals' conclusion to the contrary was clearly erroneous. The Court of Appeals reasoning will lead to absurd results because claimants who are dissatisfied with a determination or redetermination issued by the UIA

will go to the Court of Claims with due process challenges that will either (1) be dismissed as unripe for a lack of a final agency decision, or (2) proceed on the merits even though a deprivation of property has not yet occurred.

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