STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

GRANT BAUSERMAN, KARL
WILLIAMS, TEDDY BROE, individually
and on behalf of similarly situated persons,

Supreme Court No. 156389
Court of Appeals No. 333181
Court of Claims No. 15-202-MM

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v

MICHIGAN UNEMPLOYMENT
INSURANCE AGENCY,

Defendant-Appellee.

**MICHIGAN UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE AGENCY'S
BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO
PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS' APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

Bill Schuette
Attorney General

Aaron D. Lindstrom (P72916)
Solicitor General
Counsel of Record

Laura Moody (P51994)
Chief Legal Counsel

Jason Hawkins (P71232)
Debbie K. Taylor (P59382)
Assistant Attorneys General
Attorneys for Appellee - Michigan

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

not met, governmental immunity is not abrogated and the case must be dismissed. *McCahan*, 492 Mich at 752.

Thus, to bring a claim against the State or one of its agencies in derogation of governmental immunity, a plaintiff must fully and completely follow the provisions of the Court of Claims Act. *McCahan*, 492 Mich at 737; see also *Fairley v Dep't of Corrections*, 497 Mich 290, 293 (2015). One such provision is the notice requirement of MCL 600.6431. Specifically, subsection 6431(1) provides that no claim may be maintained against the State unless the claimant files a written claim or written notice of intent to file a claim within “1 year after such claim has accrued” MCL 600.6431(1). Further, section 6431(3) modifies the one-year requirement in section 6431(1) for claims where a claimant alleges property damage or personal injury. In such cases, the claimant must file a notice of intent to file a claim or the claim itself “within 6 months following the happening of the event giving rise to the cause of action.” MCL 600.6431(3); *McCahan*, 492 Mich at 741-742. A failure to comply with the notice provision entitles State defendants to dismissal of the action without a showing of prejudice. *Id.*, at 746.

The notice requirements of MCL 600.6431 must be met even where the claim is constitutional in nature. *Rusha v Dep't of Corrections*, 307 Mich App 300, 313 (2014). Thus, the analysis of when the claim accrued (when the wrong on which the claim is based occurred) turns to the nature of the constitutional claim at issue. As the Court of Appeals correctly held in this case, Plaintiffs' due-process claim accrued when they were allegedly denied the fundamental requirement of due process—

reasonable notice of the government's action and a chance to have a meaningful hearing.

2. Plaintiffs were required to file their claim, or a notice of intent to file it, within six months of the wrong on which the claim was based.

The Court of Appeals held, and Plaintiffs concede, that the six-month notice requirement of MCL 600.6431(3) is applicable here. Attach B, p 5; App for Leave, p 9. Section 6431(3) provides that a claimant who seeks damages from the State for personal injury or property damage must file with the Court of Claims “a notice of intention to file a claim *or* the claim itself within 6 months following the happening of the event giving rise to the cause of action.” MCL 600.6431(3) (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs continue to ignore this distinction, and they assert that any argument or decision against their position would compel them to file their claim prematurely. (See App for Leave, pp 1, 14.) But a written *claim* and a written *notice of intent to file a claim* are distinct filings. A plaintiff *is not* required to file a claim within six months of the event giving rise to the claim. They can simply file the notice of intent, and still comply with MCL 600.6431(3). Once a plaintiff has complied with the MCL 600.6431 notice requirement, they must file the claim itself within the three-year statute of limitations. MCL 600.6452(1). Thus, MCL 600.6431 recognizes there may be situations where a plaintiff is not able to bring the *claim* itself within six months of the event giving rise to the claim. But the plaintiff still must file the notice of intent within six months of that date.

So, Plaintiffs are wrong when they assert the Court of Appeals' ruling, if left to stand, would require claimants to file premature claims. Neither the Court of Claims Act nor the Court of Appeals' decision requires that. Rather, they require that a claimant file a claim for property damage, or notice of intent to file such a claim, within six months of the event giving rise to the claim. And all the Court of Appeals did was analyze the nature of Plaintiffs' claim to determine which event gave rise to it, and therefore when the claim or notice of intent had to be filed. The following sections discuss the nature of Plaintiffs' claim and the event that gave rise to it, and explain why the Court of Appeals' decision was correct.

B. At its core, due process requires notice of pending action and the opportunity to be heard.

State action that takes property from its owner must comport with due process. *Sidun v Wayne County Treasurer*, 481 Mich 503, 509 (2008). A fundamental requirement of due process in such proceedings is “notice reasonably calculated, under all circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” *Id.* (quoting *Mullane v Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co*, 339 US 306, 314 (1950)).

Plaintiffs seem to believe that Article 1, § 17 of Michigan's Constitution is a blanket ban on the government taking property. But it is no such thing. Rather, it prohibits taking such property without due process. That right to due process is the right granted by Article 1, § 17. Thus, a claim alleging a deprivation of property without due process does more than allege the deprivation of property. Otherwise it

would be a claim for conversion. What makes a due-process claim unique—indeed, the core of a due-process claim—is that the claimant was deprived of notice of an action or proposed action, and an opportunity to present evidence and be heard. Plaintiffs ignore this distinction and assert their claim (unequivocally styled as a due-process claim) focuses solely on being deprived of property, and therefore they could not have brought this claim until they were deprived of that property. But as explained in the following sections, that assertion ignores the Plaintiffs’ own words throughout this litigation.

C. Plaintiffs’ claims accrued when the Agency issued adjudications that they fraudulently obtained unemployment benefits, not when the Agency collected on those adjudications.

Plaintiffs have asserted from the beginning of this case, up to and including now, that the Agency’s use of the MiDAS system violates Article 1, § 17 of the Michigan Constitution because it adjudicates them as having fraudulently obtained unemployment benefits without first affording them notice of the issue and a chance to defend themselves. (Compl, pp 1-2; Am Compl, p 2; Resp to Mot to Dismiss, pp 4, 17; Merits Br to Court of Appeals, pp 1, 3; App for Leave, pp 7, 11.)

In their complaint, amended complaint, and this application for leave, Plaintiffs stated that the Agency’s use of MiDAS to detect suspected instances of fraud and adjudicate those issues deprived claimants of due process because it determines a claimant’s guilt without providing notice, without actually proving guilt, and because it fails to give claimants an opportunity to protest the charge before penalties are imposed. (Compl, pp 1-2, 8-9; Am Compl, pp 2, 10-12; App for

Leave, p 7.) In briefing before the Court of Claims and the Court of Appeals, Plaintiffs asserted their case arose out of the Agency's use of MiDAS to adjudicate suspected instances of fraud, and that they were challenging the constitutionality of that "fraud-determination procedure." (Resp to Mot to Dismiss, p 17; Merits Br to Court of Appeals, pp 1, 3.) Finally, in their application for leave to this Court, Plaintiffs state their "core allegation" is that the Agency deprived them of their property (tax returns and wages) "without *first* affording them adequate *prior* notice and a hearing." (App for Leave, p 11 (emphasis added).) Thus, going on Plaintiffs' own words, it is clear the event giving rise to their due-process claim (not being afforded a hearing) occurred before the Agency actually intercepted their tax returns or garnished their wages.

- 1. The Court of Appeals correctly identified the triggering date for Plaintiffs' claim, and correctly concluded that it happened well more than six months prior to the filing of the claim.**

If, as just described, Plaintiffs claim that they were entitled to notice and a hearing *before* the Agency made a fraud adjudication, then the latest their claim could have accrued (the happening of the event giving rise to the claim) was when the Agency made the adjudication while allegedly failing to notify the Plaintiffs and afford them a hearing. The Court of Appeals reached this straight-forward conclusion. Attach B, pp 9-10. For Bauserman, that date was December 3, 2014; for Williams, that date was June 22, 2012; and for Broe, that date was July 15, 2014. (Am Compl, pp 23, 25; App for Leave, p 18.) These adjudications (and

accompanying lists of overpayments) explained to Plaintiffs what the Agency concluded, how much money the Agency determined they owed (including restitution and fraud penalties), and how the Agency could collect that money. By filing their claims in September and October of 2015, Plaintiffs failed to comply with the notice requirement in MCL 600.6431(3). The Court of Appeals correctly held that Plaintiffs could therefore not maintain this claim.

Like other plaintiffs bringing an action against the State, Plaintiffs here were required to file their due-process claim, or notice of intent to file it, within six months of the event giving rise to the claim. MCL 600.6431(1), (3). The Court of Appeals correctly held that Plaintiffs' failure to timely bring the claim was fatal to the maintenance of their claim.

2. Plaintiffs are incorrect when they assert their claims did not accrue until the Agency collected on the fraud adjudications.

Plaintiffs continue to assert that their claim that the Agency adjudicated them to have committed fraud, allegedly without due process, did not accrue until the Agency collected on that adjudication. (App for Leave, pp 15-17.) That is, they say that their constitutional claim did not accrue until they suffered financial harm. But as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the Agency's collection on the fraud adjudications was the consequence of the Agency's alleged unlawful adjudication; not the harm on which the due-process claim was based. Attach B, p 9.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded the tax intercepts and wage garnishments were *the consequence* of the Agency's alleged due-process violation—

not the triggering event for the due-process claim itself. Plaintiffs insist the actual financial consequences of the lack of due process are the be-all and end-all of a due-process claim; that such a claim cannot be brought unless these financial consequences occur. That is simply inaccurate. See *Carey v Piphus*, 435 US 247, 266 (1978) (recognizing an actionable claim for the denial of due process even if there is no actual injury). Further, Plaintiffs' assertion is the precise conflation of harm and damages that this Court proscribed in *Frank*.

As this Court instructed in *Frank*, the focus is on the date the Plaintiffs "first incurred the harms they assert." 894 NW2d at 584. Here, that was when the Agency adjudicated Plaintiffs to have fraudulently obtained benefits. Under the MES Act, the Agency can collect restitution, interest, and penalties only after a final determination that an individual fraudulently obtained those benefits. MCL 421.54, 421.62. Thus, the adjudication issued to each Plaintiff was the event giving rise to Plaintiffs' claim because it was the event that allowed the Agency to later engage in collection activity. So the "harm" of being adjudicated to have committed fraud is separate from the resulting financial damage of the Agency collecting on the final adjudication.

Plaintiffs have seemingly recognized this distinction throughout the litigation. (See Compl, p 21; Am Compl, p 34 ("*as a result*" of the due-process violation, Plaintiffs "have suffered significant economic damages"); Resp to Mot to Dismiss, p 3; Merits Br to Court of Appeals, p 2 (stating that the Agency's improper fraud adjudication "expos[ed]" Plaintiffs to fraud penalties); Merits Br to Court of

Appeals, p 1 (stating that the collection activities were a *consequence* of the improper “decision-making system”); Merits Br to Court of Appeals, p 3; App for Leave, p 7 (asserting that the “automated decision-making system” violates their due-process rights and “*culminat[es]* in the interception of tax refunds and other seizures of property”) (emphasis added.) But they continue to “conflate[] monetary damages with ‘harm.’” *Frank*, 864 NW2d at 585. This Court rejected that conflation in *Frank*. The Court of Appeals correctly did so in this case and other cases regarding MCL 600.6431(3). See *Ranch Rheaume, LLC v Dep’t of Agriculture*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 17, 2015 (Docket No. 317631) (Attach C, p 4) (holding that the happening of the event giving rise to the due process and taking claims at issue was the date the state placed his elk ranch under quarantine, not on a date the plaintiff may have suffered a recognizable loss).

3. Plaintiffs were arguably deprived of their tax refunds or wages prior to the actual interception or garnishment of them.

If the Court were inclined to agree with Plaintiffs that some sort of taking or deprivation is required before their due-process claim could accrue, that occurred long before the actual tax refund was intercepted (Bauserman and Broe) or wages garnished (Williams). The term “property” as used in the Due Process Clause “includes not only title and possession, but also the rights of acquisition and control, the right to make legitimate use or disposal of the thing owned, such as pledge it for a debt, or to sell or transfer it.” *Butcher v City of Detroit*, 131 Mich App 698, 706

(1984). Here, at the moment that each individual who received improperly paid benefits received a notice of intent to intercept his tax refund or garnish his wages, he no longer has the right “of acquisition and control” of the money. *Id.*

Bauserman admits that on February 13, 2015, the Agency sent him a notice of intent to intercept, which included the amount due and owing and informed him that the Agency’s collection action may include interception of his state and federal income tax refund. (Am Compl, pp 19-20; see also Ex 22 to Agency Br in Supp of Mot to Dismiss.) Using February 13, 2015 as the happening of the event, the six-month notice period expired on August 13, 2015. For Williams, the Agency served a notice of garnishment on October 29, 2013. (Am Compl, p 24.) Thus, the six-month period expired in April 29, 2014. And for Broe, the Agency issued its notice of intent to withhold federal income tax refund on September 2, 2014. (Ex 16 to Agency’s Supp Br in Support of Mot to Dismiss.) Thus, the six-month period expired on March 2, 2015.

Using the definition of “property” in *Butcher*, the deprivation occurred more than six months before the physical taking of the refunds. Under any of the above scenarios, none of the individual class representatives timely filed their claim in compliance with MCL 600.6431(3). Thus, the Agency is entitled to dismissal. *McCahan*, 492 Mich at 746.

II. Plaintiffs failed to preserve the issue of remanding this case for the substitution of a new class representative.

This Court requires parties appearing before it to properly preserve issues they ask the Court to consider, and it generally refuses to consider issues that are not properly preserved. Plaintiffs ask the Court to remand the matter to the Court of Claims so that they can search for a putative class member who might be able to file a timely claim, but they have never raised this issue before and therefore did not properly preserve it for this Court's consideration. But even if the Court were to consider the issue, it should reject Plaintiffs' request because a remand for that purpose would be futile.

A. Plaintiffs failed to properly preserve the remand issue.

As an alternative request for relief, Plaintiffs ask this Court to remand this matter to the Court of Claims to determine whether there may be a putative class member who could file a timely claim. (App for Leave, p 21.) But this Court should reject this request because Plaintiffs failed to properly preserve it for review.

This Court has long held that it is not required to address issues that are raised for the first time on appeal. See, *Booth Newspapers, Inc v Univ of Mich Bd of Regents*, 444 Mich 211, 234 (1993) (refusing to consider a constitutional claim raised for the first time on appeal to this Court). The Agency has consistently argued to the Court of Claims, the Court of Appeals, and now to this Court that Plaintiffs' claim did not meet the six-month notice requirement in the Court of Claims Act. Despite having several opportunities to assert that they should have the chance to find a potential putative class member who could file a timely claim, Plaintiffs did

not present that argument before this appeal. This Court has rejected consideration of such issues.

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